# What's So Special About Policy Networks? - An Exploration of the Concept and Its Usefulness in Studying European Governance

### Tanja A. Börzel

European Integration online Papers (EIoP) Vol. 1 (1997) N° 016; http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/1997-016a.htm

Date of publication in the



: 25.8.1997

#### Full text

#### **Keywords**

policy networks, governance, communicative action, interest representation, political science

#### **Abstract**

A 'Babylonian' variety of policy network concepts and applications can be found in the literature. Neither is there a common understanding of what a policy networks actually is, nor has it been agreed upon whether policy networks constitute a mere metaphor, a method, an analytical tool or a proper theory. The aim of this paper is to review the state of the art in the field of policy networks and to explore their usefulness in studying European policy-making and European governance. It is argued that policy networks are more than an analytical tool box for studying these phenomena. What is so special then about policy networks? They constitute arenas for non-strategic, communicative action providing solutions for collective action problems and accounting for more efficient and legitimate policy-making. Yet, a theoretically ambitious policy network approach has to, first, show that policy networks do not only exist but are relevant for policy process and policy outcome, and second, tackle the problem of the ambiguity of policy networks, which can do both enhance *and* reduce the efficiency and legitimacy of policy-making.

#### Kurzfassung

In der Literatur findet sich geradezu eine babylonische Vielfalt an Politiknetzwerkansätzen. Es herrscht jedoch keinesfalls Einigkeit darüber, was ein Politiknetzwerk eigentlich ist . Und es ist umstritten, ob Politiknetzwerke eine Metapher, eine Methode, ein Analyse-Instrument oder gar einen theoretischen Ansatz darstellen. Dieses Papier hat sich zum Ziel gesetzt, den gegenwärtigen Erkenntnisstand der Netzwerkliteratur zu analysieren und zu untersuchen, inwieweit das Netwerkkonzept für die Integrationsforschung fruchtbar gemacht werden kann. Ich werde argumentieren, daß Politiknetzwerke mehr als ein 'analytisches Werkzeug' sind. Die Besonderheit von Politiknetzwerken liegt in ihrer Funktion als Handlungsarenen für nichtstrategisches, kommunikatives Handeln. Sie bieten Lösungsansätze für kollektive Handlungsprobleme und erhöhen die Effizienz und Legitimität von Politikprozessen. Ein Netzwerkansatz, der mehr als nur Metapher, Methode oder Analyse-Instrument sein will, muß jedoch zeigen, daß Politiknetzwerke nicht nur politische Realität sind, sondern auch Auswirkungen auf Politikprozesse und Politikergebnisse haben. Darüber hinaus gilt es, die Ambivalenz von Politiknetzwerken zu klären, die die Effizienz und Legitimität von Politik zwar prinzipiell steigern können, sehr häufig aber genau das Gegenteil erzeugen.

#### The author

*Tanja A. Börzel* is researcher at the Department of Social and Political Sciences of the <u>European University Institute</u> in Florence; email: <u>boerzel@datacomm.iue.it</u>

1 of 1 26.10.97 18:59

# What's So Special About Policy Networks? - An Exploration of the Concept and Its Usefulness in Studying European Governance(\*)

#### Tanja A. Börzel

European Integration online Papers (EIoP) Vol. 1 (1997) N° 016; http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/1997-016a.htm

Date of Publication in



: 25.8.1997

Abstract

# **Contents:**

- I. Introduction
- II. Method, Model, or Theory?
  - o 1. Policy Networks as a Typology of Interest Intermediation
  - 2. Policy Network as a Specific Form of Governance
- III. Policy Networks and the Study of European Governance
  - o 1. Policy Networks in an International Relations Perspective
  - o 2. Policy Networks and European Governance
    - A. Intergovernmental vs. Supranational/Transitional Policy-Making
    - B. Strengthening vs. Weakening of the State
    - C. The European Union as a New System of Governance
    - D. The Transformation of the State
- IV. Conclusion: Policy Networks Beyond an Analytical Toolbox?
- References

1

# I. Introduction

'Network' has become a fashionable catch word in recent years - not only in political science but also in a number of other scientific disciplines. Microbiologists describe cells as information networks, ecologists conceptualise the living environment as network systems, computer scientists develop neuronal networks with self-organising and self-learning capacities. In contemporary social sciences, networks are studied as new forms of social organisation in the sociology of science and technology (Callon 1986), in the economics of network industries and network technologies (Katz and Shapiro 1985), in business administration (Thorelli 1986; Powell 1990), and in public policy (Mayntz,ed.,1983; Marsh and Rhodes 1992; Lehmbruch 1991; Benz, Scharpf and Zintl,eds.,1992; Grande 1994; Héritier,ed.,1993). The term network seems to have become 'the new paradigm for the architecture of complexity' (Kenis and Schneider 1991, p.25).(1)

However, the use of the network concept varies considerably between and within the different disciplines. They all share a common understanding, a minimal or lowest common determinator definition of a policy network, as a set of relatively stable relationships which are of non-hierarchical and interdependent nature linking a variety of actors, who share common interests with regard to a policy and who exchange resources to pursue these shared interests acknowledging that co-operation is the best way to achieve common goals. Beyond this basic definition, which is not completely uncontroversial either, a large and confusing variety of different understandings and applications of the concept can be found in the literature. Often, authors have only a vague and sometimes ambiguous idea of what a policy network is and do hardly make it explicit. Whereas some consider

policy networks as a mere metaphor to denote the fact that policy-making involves a large number and wide variety of actors, others acknowledge them to be a valuable analytical tool to analyse the relations between actors interacting with each other in a given policy sector. A third group of scientists perceive policy networks as a method of social structure analysis, but do not agree on using networks analysis as a quantitative or qualitative method. And while most would not contend that policy networks provide at least a useful toolbox for analysing public policy-making, only a small minority confer some theoretical power to the concept.

The aim of this paper is to review the different policy network concepts found in the literature and to explore their usefulness in studying policy-making and governance in the European Union, a field of study in which policy networks have increasingly become 'en vogue' in recent years - not without suffering from the same confusing variety and vagueness of concepts to be found in other areas. The first part of the paper strives to structure the existing literature on policy networks presenting different concepts and classifying them along three distinct dimensions. The application of policy networks to the study of European policy-making and European governance is explored in the second part. Finally, the potential of the policy network concept for becoming a proper theory of policy-making and/or governance is discussed. The paper concludes that a theoretically ambitious policy network approach has to overcome two major challenges in order to provide more than a useful analytical toolbox for studying public policy-making: First, it has to be shown that policy networks do not only exist but are also relevant for policy process and policy outcome. And second, the problem of the ambiquity of policy networks has to be tackled as policy networks can do both enhance and reduce the efficiency and legitimacy of policy-making.

# II. Method, Model, or Theory?

There is a 'Babylonian' variety of different understandings and applications of the policy network concept to be found in the study of policy-making both in the domestic and European context. In order to structure the existing policy network literature, a first distinction is made along two dimensions:

- 1. Quantitative versus qualitative network analysis
- 2. Policy networks as a *typology of interest intermediation* versus policy networks as a *specific form of governance*.

This first distinction is about methods. Both quantitative and qualitative network approaches take networks as an analytical tool. The quantitative approach, however, considers network analysis as a method of social structure analysis. The relations between actors are analysed in terms of their cohesion, structural equivalence, spatial representation using quantitative methods such as ascendant hierarchical classification, density tables, block models etc.(2) The qualitative approach, on the other hand, is more process-oriented. It focuses less on the mere structure of interaction between actors but rather on the content of these interactions using qualitative methods such as in-depth-interviews and content and discourse analysis. Yet, the two methodological approaches are not mutually exclusive but complementary (Sciarini 1996, p.112).(3) This paper therefore focuses on the more relevant distinction between policy networks as a typology of interest intermediation and policy networks as a specific form of governance.

2

Policy Networks as a Typology of Interest Intermediation versus Policy Networks as a Specific Form of Governance

Two different 'schools' of policy networks can be identified in the field of public policy. The more prominent 'interest intermediation school' interprets policy networks as a generic term for different forms of relationships between interest groups and the State. The 'governance school', on the other hand, conceives policy networks as a specific form of governance, as a mechanism to mobilise political resources in situations where these resources are widely dispersed between public and private actors. This narrower conception of policy networks mainly draws from the works in the field of public policy.

The distinction between the two schools is fluid and not always clearly made in the literature. In any case, they are not mutually exclusive (see e.g. Katzenstein,ed.,1978; Rhodes 1988; Marsh and Rhodes,eds.,1992a; Grande 1994; Rhodes 1995). However, there is a major difference between the two schools. The interest intermediation school conceives policy networks as a generic concept which applies to *all kinds* of relations between public and private actors. For the governance school, on the contrary, policy networks only characterise a *specific* form of public-private interaction in public policy (governance), namely the one based on non-hierarchical co-ordination, opposed to hierarchy and market as two inherently distinct modes of governance.

In the following, the two schools of policy networks are briefly described and some major works of each school are introduced. Then, an overview of how different concepts of policy networks have been applied to the study of European governance is given.

## 1. Policy Networks as a Typology of Interest Intermediation

Research into the relations between the state and societal interests (interest intermediation) was dominated for a long time by different versions of 'pluralism'. In the 1970s, pluralism became increasingly challenged by neocorporatist theory (cf. Schmitter and Lehmbruch,eds.,1979). Both models, however, have been repeatedly criticised for their 'lack [of] empirical relevance and, moreover, logical consistency' (Jordan and Schubert 1992, p.8; cf. Rhodes and Marsh 1992, pp.1-4). This criticism has prompted a stream of qualifications to the two basic models leading to a variety of 'neologisms' to describe state/group relations such as 'pressure pluralism', 'state corporatism', 'societal corporatism', 'group subgovernment', 'corporate pluralism', 'iron triangles', 'clientelism', 'meso corporatism' (cf. Jordan and Schubert 1992). These refinements of the two models, however, also appear to be problematic because very often similar labels describe different phenomena, or different labels refer to similar phenomena, which leads to confusion and misunderstanding in the discussion of state/interest relations. Some authors therefore suggested to abandon the pluralism-neocorporatism dichotomy and developed a new typology in which the network is a generic label embracing the different types of state/interest relations.(4) For them, 'the network approach presents an alternative(5) to both the pluralist and the corporatist model. The policy network is a meso-level concept of interest group intermediation which can be adopted by authors operating with different models of power distribution in liberal democracies' (Rhodes and Marsh 1992, p.4; cf. Jordan and Schubert 1992; van Waarden 1992; Kriesi 1994).(6)

The network typologies found in the literature share a common understanding of policy networks as power dependency relationships between the government and interest groups, in which resources are exchanged. The typologies, however, differ from each other according to the dimensions along which the different types of networks are distinguished.

While Grant Jordan and Klaus Schubert base their typology on only three main criteria - the level of institutionalisation (stable/unstable), the scope of the policy making arrangement (sectoral/trans-sectoral), and the number of participants (restricted/open) - (Jordan and Schubert 1992), Frans van Waarden uses seven - actors, function, structure, institutionalisation, rules of conduct, power relations, actors strategies - finally singling out three as the most important to distinguish between existing types of networks: number and type of societal actors involved, major

function of the network, and balance of power (van Waarden 1992).

3

A less complex but as comprehensive policy network classification was developed by Hanspeter Kriesi. Drawing from the works of Schmitter (1974) and Lehmbruch (1979), Kriesi's classification is based on the combination of the two models of structural organisation of systems of interest groups (corporatism and pluralism) and the two models of relations between state and interest groups in a political process (concertation and pressure), whereby corporatism is linked to concertation and pluralism to pressure. Kriesi adds another dimension, the strength of the state (strong and weak state). This altogether produces four types of policy networks, each characterised by a specific set of properties (cf. Kriesi 1994, pp.392-396; Sciarini 1996).

Michael Atkinson and William Coleman conceptualise six types of policy networks along two different dimensions: 1) the state structure in terms of autonomy and concentration of power, and 2) the capacity to mobilise the interests of employers (Atkinson and Coleman 1989; see also Katzenstein 1978).

Elaborating on Benson's definition of a policy network as 'a cluster or complex of organisations connected to each other by resource dependencies and distinguished from other clusters or complexes by breaks in the structure of resource dependencies' (Benson 1982: 148), Rod Rhodes distinguishes five types of networks according to the degree to which their members are integrated, the type of their members, and the distribution of resources among them.(7) He places his network types on a continuum ranging from highly integrated policy communities at the one end and loosely integrated issue networks at the other end; professional networks, inter-governmental networks, and producer networks lie in-between (Rhodes 1988). In contrast to many works on interest intermediation which focus on state/business relations, Rhodes has predominantly used his policy network model to analyse intergovernmental relations (Rhodes 1986; 1986a; 1986b; 1995).(8)

Stephen Wilks and Maurice Wright apply the 'Rhodes model' to the relations between government and industry (Wilks and Wright 1987). They introduce, however, three major modifications of the model. First, they stress the desaggregated nature of policy networks in the policy sectors, suggesting that government-industry relations have to be analysed at the sub-sectoral, not at the sectoral level. Second, they place considerable emphasis on interpersonal relations as a key aspect of the policy network, (9) while Rhodes, drawing from inter-organisational theory, strictly focuses on the structural relationships between institutions. And third, Wilks and Wright redefine the terminology of policy networks. They distinguish between 'policy universe', 'policy community', and 'policy network'. Policy universe is defined as 'the large population of actors and potential actors [who] share a common interest in industrial policy, and may contribute to the policy process on a regular basis'. Policy community is reserved for a more desaggregated system involving those actors and potential actors who share an interest in a particular industry and who interact with one another, 'exchange resources in order to balance and optimise their mutual relationships' (Wilks and Wright 1987, p.296). And the policy network becomes 'a linking process, the outcome of those exchanges, within a policy community or between a number of policy communities' (Wilks and Wright 1987, p.297).

A more fundamental distinction between different types of policy networks is the one between *heterogeneous* and *homogeneous* networks. This distinction is often overlooked; the vast majority of the policy network literature deals with heterogeneous policy networks, in which the actors involved dispose of *different* interests and resources. This heterogeneity of interests and resources creates a state of interdependence among the actors linking them together in a policy network where they mediate their interests and exchange their resources. Only a few scholars have (also) focused on

homogeneous networks, in which the actors have similar interests and resources, like in the case of so called professional networks (Burley and Mattli 1993), epistemic communities (Haas 1992) and principled issue-networks (Sikkink 1993).(10)

To conclude, the policy network concept of the interest intermediation school has been widely applied to the study of sectoral policy-making in various countries. Policy networks are generally regarded as an *analytical tool* for examining institutionalised exchange relations between the state and organisations of civil society, allowing a more 'fine grain' analysis by taking into account sectoral and sub-sectoral differences,(11) the role played by private and public actors, and formal as well as informal relationships between them. The basic assumption is that the existence of policy networks, which reflect the relative status or power of particular interests in a policy area, influences (though does not determine) policy outcomes.

Some authors, however, strive for a more ambitious use of the policy network concept in studying forms of interest intermediation by attaching some explanatory value to the different network types. The underlying assumption is that the structure of a network has a major influence on the logic of interaction between the members of the networks thus affecting both policy process and policy outcome (Knoke 1990; Lehmbruch 1991; Sciarini 1996 and the empirical case studies in Marin and Mayntz,eds.,1991a and Marsh and Rhodes,eds.,1992a). However, no hypotheses have been put forward which systematically link the nature of a policy network with the character and outcome of the policy process (Bresser and O'Toole 1994).

The (English/American) policy network literature mainly focuses on works of the interest intermediation school. Much less attention has been paid to the governance school. The following section therefore strives to give a more extensive introduction to the governance school focusing on the less known German literature.

4

# 2. Policy Network as a Specific Form of Governance

In the literature on governance, again two different applications of the concept of policy networks can be identified.

Many authors use policy networks as an *analytical concept* or *model* (especially in the field of policy analysis) to connote the 'structural relationships, interdependencies and dynamics between actors in politics and policy-making' (Schneider 1988, p.2). In this use, networks provide a perspective from which to analyse situations in which a given policy cannot be explained by centrally concerted policy action toward common goals. Rather, the network concept draws attention to the interaction of many separate but interdependent organisations which co-ordinate their actions through interdependencies of resources and interests. Actors, who take an interest in the making of a certain policy and who dispose of resources (material and immaterial) required for the formulation, decision or implementation of the policy, form linkages to exchange these resources. The linkages, which differ in their degree of intensity, normalisation, standardisation and frequency of interaction, constitute the structures of a network. These 'governance-structures' of a network determine in turn the exchange of resources between the actors. They form points of references for the actors' calculations of costs and benefits of particular strategies. Thus, the analysis of policy networks allows to draw conclusions about the actors' behaviour (Windhoff-Héritier 1994, pp.85-88). However, policy networks here are only an analytical model, a framework of interpretation, in which different actors are located and linked in their interaction in a policy sector and in which the results of this interaction are analysed. Why and how single actors act, the policy network analysis can only partly account for by the

description of the linkages between the actors. Hence, policy network analysis is no substitute for a theoretical explanation: '[N]etwork analysis is no theory *in stricto sensu*, but rather a tool box for describing and measuring relational configurations and their structural characteristics' (Kenis and Schneider 1991, p.44).(12)

Some authors, however, go beyond the use of networks as an analytical concept. They argue that it is not enough to understand the behaviour of a given individual unit as a product of interorganisational relations (networks). The underlying assumption is that social structures have a greater explanatory power than the personal attributes of individual actors (Wellmann 1988). The pattern of linkages and interaction as a whole should be taken as the unit of analysis. In short, these authors shift the unit of analysis from the individual actor to the set of interrelationships that constitute interorganisational networks. While the analytical network concept describes the context of, and factors leading to, joint policy-making, the concept of networks as interorganisational relationships focuses on the structure and processes through which joint policy-making is organised, i.e. on governance. Policy networks are conceived as a particular form of governance in modern political systems (Kenis and Schneider 1991; Kooiman 1993; Mayntz 1994). The point of departure is the assumption that modern societies are characterised by societal differentiation, sectoralisation and policy growth which lead to political overload and 'governance under pressure' (Jordan and Richardson 1983).(13) 'Modern governance is characterised by decision systems in which territorial and functional differentiation desaggregate effective problem-solving capacity into a collection of sub-systems of actors with specialised tasks and limited competence and resources' (Hanf and O'Toole 1992, p.166). The result is a functional interdependence of public and private actors in policy-making. Governments have become increasingly dependent upon the co-operation and joint resource mobilisation of policy actors outside their hierarchical control. These changes have favoured the emergence of policy networks as a new form of governance - different from the two conventional forms of governance (hierarchy and market) -, which allows governments to mobilise political resources in situations where these resources are widely dispersed between public and private actors (Kenis and Scheider 1991; Marin and Mayntz 1991; Kooiman 1993; Mayntz 1994; Le Galès 1995). Hence, policy networks are 'une réponse aux problèmes d'efficacité des politiques publiques' (Le Galès 1995, p.17).

In this view, policy networks are best understood as 'webs of relatively stable and ongoing relationships which mobilise and pool dispersed resources so that collective (or parallel) action can be orchestrated toward the solution of a common policy' (Kenis and Schneider 1991, p.36). A policy network includes all actors(14) involved in the formulation and implementation of a policy in a policy sector. They are characterised by predominantly *informal* interactions between *public and private*(15) actors with distinctive, but *interdependent interests*, who strive to solve problems of collective action on a central, *non-hierarchical level*.

All in all, policy networks reflect a changed relationship between state and society. There is no longer a strict separation between the two: 'Instead of emanating from a central authority, be this government or the legislature, policy today is in fact *made* in a process involving a plurality of both public and private organisations'. This is why 'the notion of 'policy networks' does not so much represent a new analytical *perspective* but rather signals a real change in the structure of the polity' (Mayntz 1994: 5).

5

The view of policy networks as a specific form of governance is most explicit in the works of some German public policy scholars like Renate Mayntz, Fritz Scharpf, Patrick Kenis, Volker Schneider, and Edgar Grande (the 'Max-Planck-School').(16) They start from the assumption that modern societies are characterised by functional differentiation and partly autonomous societal subsystems

(Kenis and Schneider 1991; Mayntz 1994). The emergence of these subsystems is closely connected with the ascendance of formal organisations forming interorganisational relations with other organisations on which they depend for resources. In politics, private organisations dispose of important resources and have therefore become increasingly relevant for the formulation and implementation of public policies. In this structural context, policy networks present themselves as a solution to co-ordination problems typical for modern societies.

Under the conditions of environmental uncertainty and increasing international, sectoral and functional overlap of societal sub-systems, policy networks as a mode of governance dispose of a crucial advantage over the two conventional forms of governance, hierarchy and market.(17) Unlike hierarchies and markets, policy networks do not necessarily have dysfunctional consequences. While markets are unable to control the production of negative externalities (problems of market failure), hierarchies produce 'losers', who have to bear the costs of a political decision, (exploitation of the minority by the majority; cf. Scharpf 1992). Horizontal self-co-ordination of the actors involved in policy-making (voluntary or compulsive bargaining systems) is, on the other hand, also prone to produce suboptimal outcomes: Such bargaining systems tend to be blocked by dissent, preventing the consensus necessary for the realisation of common gains.

There are two main problems discussed in the literature which can render consensus difficult or even impossible in a bargaining system: 1) The bargaining dilemma (known as prisoner's dilemma in game theory and regime theory), i.e. situations in which defection from co-operation is more rewarding for a rational actor than compliance, due to the risk of being cheated (Scharpf 1992). 2) The structural dilemma, i.e. the interorganisational structure of horizontal co-ordination itself. Horizontal co-ordination between organisations is based on bargaining between the representatives of the organisations. These representatives are not completely autonomous in the bargaining process. They are subject to the control of the members of their organisation. These intrarorganisational 'constraints' have major consequences for the representatives' orientations of action and the reliability of their commitments made in interorganisational bargaining rendering the finding of consensus in interorganisational bargaining processes more difficult for two reasons: first, due to the self-interest of the organisational representatives, and second, because of the insecurity caused by intraorganisational control and the need for intraorganisational implementation of interorganisational compromises (involuntary defection). The linkage of intra- and interoganisational decision-making processes in structures of horizontal co-ordination across several levels of government constitutes a bargaining system in which conflicts are not only caused by competing or antagonistic interests but also by the very structure of the system (Benz 1992).(18) Hence, the probability of producing common outcomes in a bargaining system linking together differently structured arenas, different actors and different interest constellations is relatively low (Benz 1992, p.178).

The dysfunction of horizontal self-co-ordination, however, can be overcome when such co-ordination takes place either in the 'shadow of hierarchy' or within network structures. As hierarchical co-ordination becomes increasingly impossible in interactions across sectoral, organisational and national borders, actors have to rely on horizontal self-co-ordination within networks, which then can serve as a functional equivalent to hierarchy (Scharpf 1993). By combining the autonomy of actors typical for markets with the ability of hierarchies to pursue selected goals and to control their anticipated consequences, policy networks can overcome the major problems of horizontal co-ordination: 1) Networks are able to intentionally produce collective outcomes *despite* diverging interests of their members through voluntary bargaining (Kenis and Schneider 1991; Mayntz 1994). Unlike 'exchange' and 'strategic interaction', which are based on the maximisation of self-interests through cost-benefit calculations and which are prone to produce bargaining dilemma, negotiations in policy networks are based on communication and trust and aim at achieving joint outcomes, which have a proper value for the actors. The negotiations to reach a common outcome in policy networks can be guided by either the perspective of reconciliation of interests (bargaining) or the perspective of optimal performance (problem-solving). The question is then under which conditions

problem-solving (as the most optimal logic of negotiation to produce common outcomes)(19) dominates over bargaining. Different scholars have dealt with this problem (see Benz, Scharpf and Zintl,eds.,1992). Solutions suggested are the institutional consolidation of a network (Scharpf 1993), overlapping membership in several networks (Scharpf 1991), the spatial and temporal separation of the search for a common solution from the distribution of costs and benefits (Zintl 1992; Scharpf 1992; Benz 1992), or the 'Entkopplung von Handlungszielen und individuellem Nutzenstreben' (discoupling of goals of action from the individual ambition of utility-maximisation; Mayntz 1993, p.51; cf. Benz 1992). 2) Networks can provide additional, informal linkages between the inter- and intraorganisational decision-making arenas. Such informal linkages, based on communication and trust, overlap with institutionalised structures of co-ordination and link different organisations independently from the formal relationships between them. Networks help to overcome the structural dilemma of bargaining systems because they provide redundant possibilities for interaction and communication which can be used to solve decision-making problems (including bargaining dilemma). Networks do not directly serve for decision-making but for the information, communication and exercise of influence in the preparation of decisions. Interaction in networks is not exposed to constraints such as formal rules or assignments of responsibility. Besides, networks reduce transaction cost in situations of complex decision-making as they provide a basis of common knowledge, experience and normative orientation. They also reduce insecurity by promoting the mutual exchange of information. Finally, networks can counterbalance power asymmetries by providing additional channels of influence beyond the formal structures (Benz 1992).

6

To sum up, in an increasingly complex and dynamic environment, where hierarchical co-ordination is rendered difficult if not impossible and the potential for deregulation is limited due to the problems of market failure (Kooiman 1993), governance becomes more and more only feasible within policy networks, providing a framework for the efficient horizontal co-ordination of the interests and actions of public and private corporate actors, mutually dependent on their resources (Kenis and Schneider 1991; Scharpf 1993; Mayntz 1994).

However, networks are no final solution to decision-making problems in bargaining systems. Because of their self-dynamic, networks become very often 'quasi-institutional' arenas with their own structure of conflict and problems of co-ordination (Benz 1995). Besides, policy networks tend to be very resistant to change (Lehmbruch 1991). Finally, policy networks are often not exposed to democratic control and therefore suffer from a lack of legitimacy (Benz 1995; cf. Scharpf 1993a).(20) Hence, networks themselves create a dilemma: On the one hand, they perform functions necessary to overcome the deficiencies of bargaining systems, on the other hand, however, they cannot fully substitute formal institutions because of their own deficiencies.(21)

It should be clear by now that the concept of policy networks as a specific form of governance does not constitute a proper theory. To explain the phenomenon of policy networks as a new mode of governance, the Max-Planck-School draws from the so called *actor-centred institutionalism*, mainly developed by Renate Mayntz and Fritz Scharpf (1995), which is very often combined with other theoretical approaches such as game theory (Scharpf 1992; 1992a; 1993; Zintl 1992), theories of exchange (Marin 1990) or resource dependency theory (Marin 1990; Mayntz 1993; 1994; Kenis and Schneider 1991).

Actor-centred institutionalism combines rational choice and institutionalist assumptions. Institutions are conceived of as regulatory structures providing opportunities and constraints for rational actors striving to maximise their preferences (Mayntz and Scharpf 1995). A major function of institutions is to overcome problems of collective action by constraining egoistic and opportunistic behaviour

(Marin 1990; Scharpf 1992; Zintl 1992). Networks then are conceptualised as informal institutions - not-formally organised, reciprocal (non-hierarchical), relatively permanent relations and forms of interaction between actors who strive to realise common gains (Scharpf 1993, p.72). Networks are based on agreed-upon rules for the production of a common outcome. They reduce costs of information and transaction and create mutual trust among the actors diminishing uncertainty and thus the risk of defection (Scharpf 1992). Due to these functions, networks serve as an ideal institutional framework for horizontal self-co-ordination between public and private actors, on which policy-making is relying in an increasingly complex, dynamic and diversified environment where hierarchical co-ordination is rendered dysfunctional.(22) Public and private actors form networks to exchange their resources on which they are mutually dependent for the realisation of common gains (policies) (Marin 1990; Kenis and Schneider 1991; Mayntz 1993; 1994; cf. Rhodes 1988; 1996).

## Figure 1

Yet, studies on policy networks are emerging which challenge the rationalist institutionalist approach of the Max-Planck-School by using *cognitive approaches* such as theories of learning or communicative action. The point of departure is a critique of the Max-Planck-School for neglecting the role of consensual knowledge, ideas, beliefs and values in the study of networks (Sabatier 1993; Majone 1993; Singer 1993). It is contended that policy networks are merely based on the common goal to produce certain policy outcomes which allow the actors to realise their self-interests. Members of a network share consensual knowledge and collective ideas and values, a specific belief system i.e. 'a set of fundamental values, causal beliefs and problem perceptions' (Sabatier 1993, p.127, my translation). Such 'advocacy coalitions' (Sabatier 1993) or 'discourse coalitions' (Singer 1993) are formed to influence policy outcomes according to the collectively shared belief system of their members. Pursuing their goals, advocacy and discourse coalitions do not resort to strategic bargaining but rather rely on processes of communicative action like in the case of policy deliberation (Majone 1993) or policy change through policy learning, i.e. a change in the belief-system of advocacy coalitions (not only in the actors' behaviour as the result of external constrains or the convergence of their exogenously fixed interests) (Sabatier 1993).(23)

7

All in all, there is a growing number of works on policy networks which acknowledge that ideas, beliefs, values, and consensual knowledge do have explanatory power in the study of policy networks. However, the critique of rational institutionalist approaches towards policy networks overlooks a fundamental point: Not only do ideas, beliefs, values, identity and trust matter in policy networks; they are *constitutive* for the logic of interaction between the members of a network. Scholars like Scharpf and Benz are absolutely right in arguing that policy networks offer a solution to problems of collective action by enabling non-strategic action based on communication and mutual trust. Communication and trust distinguish policy networks from other forms of non-hierarchical co-ordination and render them more efficient than those. Yet, by acknowledging the relevance of trust and communicative action (problem-solving, deliberation, arguing) as a way to overcome problems caused by strategic action (maximisation of self-interest, bargaining), rational institutionalists start contradicting the basic assupmtions of their theory, namely that rational actors always strive to maximise their exogenously given interest. The capacity of policy networks to overcome problems of collective action can only be accounted for when actors' preferences and interests are endogenised, i.e. not taken as given and fixed, and the role of shared ideas, values, identities and mutual trust in shaping and changing these interests and preferences is taken on something that cannot be done within a rational institutionalist framework.(24)

This part of the paper introduced different concepts of policy networks found in the literature and

organised them along three dimensions which are summarised in figure 2.

## Figure 2

Having looked at different policy network concepts 'in theory', let us now turn to the ways they are applied 'in practice' to study European policy-making and European governance.

# **III.** Policy Networks and the Study of European Governance(25)

# 1. Policy Networks in an International Relations Perspective

Some scholars have used policy networks as a metaphor to describe the EU as system of governance. They characterise the EU as a 'set of networks' or 'network form of organisation' (Bressand and Nicolaidis 1990; Keohane and Hoffmann 1991, p.13; Wallace 1990, p.19; Metcalfe 1992).

Hans Kassim even identifies a 'network model' in the field of International Relations (IR), which challenges the state-centric two-level game conception of European governance put forward by liberal intergovernmentalism(26) (Kassim 1994, p.19). This network model asserts that European governance is characterised by a multiplicity of linkages and interactions connecting a large number and a wide variety of actors from all levels of government and society. Policy-making power is widely dispersed between a large number of actors and not monopolised by the national governments. Neither do national governments control access of domestic interests to the European arena as gate-keepers aggregating domestic interests at the national level and then defending them in inter-governmental bargaining in the Council of Minister. Rather, domestic actors can directly access the European arena by-passing the national governments. However, Kassim's distinction between 'the policy network approach' in comparative politics and 'the network model' in IR already indicates that there are considerable differences between the two, 'reflecting different origins and different ambitions' (Kassim 1994, p.17). Policy networks in IR are basically taken as a metaphor, which 'helps to emphasise the horizontal ties among actors and the complexity of their relationships, but (...) does not elaborate clear hypotheses about behaviour' (Keohane and Hoffmann 1991, p.14). A more sophisticated, 'theory impregnated' (Rhodes 1995) conception of policy networks in the field of IR and European Integration (EI) is only emerging.(27)

8

# 2. Policy Networks and European Governance

The debate about 'how to explore the nature of the beast' (Risse-Kappen 1996) used to be dominated by the long-running and probably never ending dispute between neofunctionalist/supranationalist approaches of EI on the one hand and realist/intergovernmentalist approaches of EI on the other hand (for the most recent 'academic duel' see Wincott 1995 and Moravcsik 1995). The increasing dissatisfaction of many scholars with the neofunctionalist-intergovernmentalist dichotomy to study European governance has provoked several attempts to develop alternative approaches, of which multi-level governance is probably the most prominent one (Scharpf 1993; Marks 1992; 1993; Hooghe 1995; Marks, Hooghe and Blank 1995). Expecting a 'transformation of the nation state' as consequence of European integration rather than its 'withering away' or its 'obstinate resilience', multi-level governance seems to be able to overcome some of the fundamental weaknesses of neofunctionalism and intergovernmentalism in studying European governance (cf. Börzel forthcoming), Yet, it is still subject to major criticism (cf. Rhodes 1995; Jeffery 1996; Keating 1996;

Smith 1996). The emerging interest in policy networks in the literature on European governance can be also understood as reaction to the critique of multi-level governance for predominantly focusing on the 'multi-level' aspect (relations between the territorial levels of government) of multi-level governance thereby neglecting the 'governance' component (relations between the public and private spheres). Policy networks are perceived to offer a way 'to put governance back into multi-level governance' (Smith 1996). The European Union then is conceptualised as a multi-level system of governance, where private and public actors of the supranational, national and subnational level interact within highly complex networks to produce policy outcomes.

The concept of policy networks has hardly been systematically applied to the study of European governance. (28) Nevertheless, four distinct ways can be identified in which policy networks have been invoked for the research on European governance. They differ according to whether they treat European governance as dependent or independent variable (29) and to whether they apply policy networks as analytical tool or theoretical approach.

### A. Intergovernmental vs. Supranational/Transitional Policy-Making

The majority of works on European governance use policy networks as an analytical tool to study European governance as dependent variable. A large part of this research is dedicated to the study of the different forms of interest intermediation between public and private actors at the EU level. A major point of interest is the relationship between the Commission and national and transnational interest groups(30) in various policy areas and the influence of these sectoral networks on policy outcomes and policy change in European policy-making (Peterson 1992; Sandholtz 1992; Mazey and Richardson,eds.,1993; Bressers, O'Toole and Richardson,eds.,1994; Schneider, Dang-Nguyen and Werle 1994).

A smaller set of works uses policy networks to analyse the processes and structures of European policy-making. They start from the observation that European policy-making cannot be reduced to intergovernmental bargaining but increasingly takes place in 'multi-level policy networks' (Peters 1992; Risse-Kappen 1996; Sandholtz 1996). The research here focuses on the question under which conditions multi-level policy networks emerge and, rather than intergovernmental bargaining, characterise European policy-making (Sandholtz and Stone 1994; Rhodes 1995; Risse-Kappen 1996).

## B. Strengthening vs. Weakening of the State

A considerable amount of the 'second-image reversed' literature on European governance invokes policy networks to analyse the impact of European policy-making on the domestic structures of the member states. Policy networks are considered to be a major challenge to the 'gatekeeper' role of the national governments on which intergovernmentalist scholars base their assumption that European integration 'rescues' (Milward 1992) or 'strengthens' the state (Moravcsik 1994). Policy networks linking the Commission and subnational actors such as regional or local governments can by-pass national governments, giving subnational actors direct and independent access to the European policy-making arena and providing the Commission with potential coalition partners against the national governments (Marks 1992; 1993; Sandholtz 1996). It has been argued, however, that European policy-making might as well alter the resource dependency in domestic policy networks in favour of the national governments rendering subnational actors more dependent on the central government or making the central government less dependent on subnational actors (Anderson 1990; cf. Moravcsik 1994).(31) In an attempt to overcome the oversimplifications of the strengthening-vs.-weakening-the-state debate, some authors use the concept of policy networks to specify the conditions under which subnational actors might gain influence on European policy-making, e.g. by establishing respectively exploiting policy networks (Kohler-Koch 1992; 1997; Marks, Nielson, Ray and Salk 1995; Smyrl 1995; Rhodes 1995).

9

### C. The European Union as a New System of Governance

Some inceptions of the use of policy networks as a theoretical approach towards the study of European governance can be found in the literature on the EU as an emerging political system Some authors claim that the European system of governance can no longer be conceptualised and explained by using the dichotomy of international organisation/confederation versus federation/supranational state. These 'state-centred categories, still inclined to the principle of territorial state sovereignty, are renounced for being unable to grasp the fundamentally new and unique feature of the EU as a system of 'governance without government' (Ruggie 1993; Christiansen 1994; Jachtenfuchs 1995; Jachtenfuchs and Kohler-Koch 1996). It is argued that European governance is not based on hierarchical co-ordination by either national governments joined in the Council of Ministers or a supranational actor like the Commission. Rather, European governance proceeds through negotiations in policy networks linking public and private actors of different levels and dimensions of government. Whereas this system of governance, based on non-hierarchical co-ordination in policy networks across different levels of government and different spheres of society is perceived by some authors as a 'transformation of the state' in terms of the emergence of a new form or architecture of the modern state in Europe (Grande 1994; Héritier, Mingers, Knill and Becka 1994; Kohler-Koch 1996), others argue that the whole conception of the state is put into question. 'If governance by negotiation is possible, the notion of governance is no longer linked exclusively to the state. This opens up for a polycentric system of non-territorial based governance' (Jachtenfuchs 1995, p.125; Schmitter 1991; 1992; Ruggie 1993; Christiansen 1994; Christiansen/Jørgensen 1995).(32) Whether the emergence of a new mode of governance in the EU constitutes only a new form of modern statehood or actually puts the concept of the state itself into question is open to further research. In any case, the concept of policy networks does not only allow to conceptualise such processes of transformation Theory-impregnated policy network approaches, drawing from game theory (Scharpf 1992; 1993) or resource dependency theory (Kooiman 1993; Rhodes 1996) claim to provide some causal explanation for these changes. It is argued that policy-making in the EU takes place in a highly dynamic, complex and diversified environment where public actors at both the European and the national level are increasingly dependent on the resources of public subnational (regional and local governments) as well as private actors of all territorial levels (transnational, national, subnational interest groups etc.). Hierarchical co-ordination either through the Commission or the national governments has become inefficient. The scope for deregulation and privatisation is limited due to the problem of market failure. In this situation, policy networks provide a most efficient form of governance at the European as well as at the national level. As not all policy areas are equally characterised by complexity, dynamic and diversity, this theoretical approach can also account for cross-sectoral variation with regard to pre-eminence of policy networks. The same applies to cross-country variations as the resource dependency between public and private actors and different levels of government is highly determined by the domestic structures of the states (political institutions, political culture and state/society relations).

#### D. The Transformation of the State

The application of policy networks as a theoretical approach to the study of the Europeanisation of the national state is equally promising, above all as the strengthening-vs.-weakening-the-state debate seems to have led into a dead-end. There is an increasing consensus that neither the relationship between the different levels of government nor between public and private actors is zero-sum in nature (Parri 1989; Hooghe and Keating 1994; Benz 1995; Keating and Hooghe 1995; Olsen 1995). A number of empirical studies indicate that the state is not in decline, despite the growing

significance of supranational, transnational and subnational actors in European policy-making (Anderson 1990; Engel 1993; McAleavey 1993; Börzel forthcoming; Rhodes 1995; Zürn 1995; Kohler-Koch 1996). Hence, some scholars do not expect either a 'withering away' of the state or its 'obstinate resilience'. Rather, they suggest a general transformation of the state as a consequence of European governance, which does not follow the zero-sum game logic of neofunctionalist/supranationalist and intergovernmentalist approaches. Instead of looking for changes in the balance of power between the different levels of government or between public and private actors, these authors focus on processes of the de-bordering of the autonomy action and the reformulation and reinterpretation of principles of action. (33) The Europeanisation of the national state is perceived as a process which fosters the emergence of a new mode of governance, characterised by the shift from hierarchical, state-centred co-ordination to non-hierarchical self-co-ordination of public and private actors across all levels of government (Grande 1994; Jachtenfuchs 1995; Kohler-Koch 1996; Rhodes 1996).(34) The state is increasingly transforming from actor into arena (Kohler-Koch 1996).(35) The emergence of policy networks as the predominant form of governance within the member states as a consequence of European governance can be explained by the same line of argument invoked to account for the specific nature of European governance. By adding a third or forth level of government to the political systems of the member states, the complexity, dynamic and diversity of policy-making, already typical for modern societies, is considerably increased, enhancing the need for non-hierarchical co-ordination of public and private actors across all levels of government within policy-networks. The EU constitutes an opportunity structure which offers additional resources to private actors and subnational governments increasing the resource dependency among the different levels of government and the public and the private sphere and fostering the need for non-hierarchical patterns of interactions and co-ordination. Beate Kohler-Koch carries the point even further by arguing that the EU does not only provide subnational actors with additional resources; she also strives to demonstrate that the Commission provides a new philosophy of governance, based on co-operative governing, which changes the ideas and beliefs of subnational actors about how efficient governance can be achieved (Kohler-Koch 1995; 1996). This transformation-of-the-state hypothesis still requires comprehensive empirical testing. Policy networks had had a role in public policy-making long before the European Community came into being. Yet, the assumption that European governance fosters the dissemination of policy networks as a mode of governance is a valid one and might be a more fruitful approach towards studying the Europeanisation of the national state than those offered by conventional theories of EI and IR with their state-centred conceptions of governance.

10

Figure 3 summarises the four distinct ways in which policy networks have been applied to the study of European governance.

### Figure 3

# IV. Conclusion: Policy Networks - Beyond an Analytical Toolbox?

'It's new, it's different, it's good looking, BUY IT NOW' (Le Galès 1995: 13).

The aim of this paper was to review the different policy network concepts found in the literature and to explore their usefulness in studying European policy-making and European governance. In order to clarify the often confusing variety of conceptions and applications of policy networks, the first part of

the paper organised the different network concepts found in the literature along three different dimensions: *quantitative network analysis* versus *qualitative network analysis*; *interest intermediation school* versus *governance school*, *analytical* versus *theoretical* approaches. The second part of the paper analysed the ways in which the policy network concept of the interest intermediation and the governance school have been applied to the study of European governance. What remains to be done in the concluding section is to discuss some of the strength and weakness of the policy network concept and to explore its potenial for becoming more than just a useful analytical toolbox but a real theoretical approach for studying policy-making and governance.

The concept of policy networks has been intensively criticised in the literature (Rhodes 1986b; Atkinson and Coleman 1992; Marsh and Rhodes 1992; Schumann 1993; Smith 1993; Dowding 1994; Mills and Saward 1994; Bressers and O'Toole 1994; Kassim 1994; Thatcher 1995; Rhodes, Bache and George 1996). The paper does not allow to address all the points of criticism. The concluding part puts forward two main arguments why policy networks might have an added value in studying European governance compared to other approaches, but also points at two major weaknesses to be overcome. The arguments follow the policy networks concept of the governance school conceiving policy networks as a specific form of governance based on non-hierarchical co-ordination between public and private actors across different levels of government.

There is a growing number of empirical works, especially in the field of European policy-making, which convincingly demonstrate the existence of policy networks, in which the different actors involved in policy-making (formulation and implementation) co-ordinate their interests through non-hierarchical bargaining(36) (see e.g. Peterson 1992; Marks 1992; 1993; McAleavey 1993; Grande 1994; Héritier, Knill and Mingers 1994; Bressers, O'Toole and Richardson,eds.,1994; Schneider, Dang-Nguyen and Werle 1994; Rhodes 1995; Smyrl 1995). Unlike other theories which share a state-centric conception of governance based on a national or supranational authority for hierarchical co-ordination in public policy-making, the concept of policy network is able to conceptualise this emerging form of 'governance without government' (Rosenau 1992). A policy network perspective on governance thus allows to identify processes of transformation at both the European and the national level which go beyond the strengthening-vs.-weakening-the-state dichotomy. As indicated by several works on the Europeanisation of domestic politics e.g., European integration does not render the nation-state obsolete; it changes the resource dependency between public and private actors across the different levels of government - sometimes in favour of the central state, sometimes in favour of sub-national governments or private interests, and in many cases leading to (more) co-operation between the different public and private actors rather than to the strengthening or weakening of one or the other (cf. Grande 1994; Börzel forthcoming; Font 1996).

11

But policy networks do not only provide an analytical tool to trace such changes in territorial politics and state/society relations. Embedded in a 'metatheorical' framework such as resource dependency theory or communicative action theory e.g., a policy network approach can also provide some explanation for the proliferation of non-hierarchical co-ordination in multi-level policy networks. As argued by the governance school, hierarchical co-ordination and deregulation increasingly suffer from problems of efficiency and legitimacy in a complex and dynamic context of public policy-making. Policy networks offer themselves as a solution to these problems as they are not only able to pool widely dispersed policy resources and allow to include a broad variety of different actors; what makes policy networks special is that they provide an arena for non-strategic, communicative action to overcome deadlock situations and problems of collective action.(37) It is often overlooked, however, that policy networks can also have quite the opposite effect by inhibiting policy change (Lehmbruch 1991) and excluding certain actors from the policy-making process (Benz

1995).

To conclude, a theoretically ambitious policy network approach faces two major challenges. First, it still remains to be shown that policy networks do not only *exist* in European and national policy-making but are also *relevant* for policy process and policy outcome by e.g. enhancing or reducing the efficiency and legitimacy of policy-making. Whereas many authors agree that policy networks do have a considerable influence on policy-making (Windhoff-Héritier 1993; Bresser and O'Toole 1994; Sciarini 1996), no hypotheses have been formulated yet about the impact of policy networks on the formulation, implementation and change of policies. Second, once having empirically demonstrated that policy networks do make a difference, the question of the ambiguity of policy networks has to be tackled, i.e. the conditions have to be specified under which policy networks enhance the efficiency and legitimacy of policy-making and under which they deploy the opposite effect. A tentative hypothesis, derived from empirical work in the field of EU regional and environmental policy, could be that institutional fragmentation (especially in territorial politics) and a consensus-oriented political culture (fostering trust among the actors) promote both the emergence and a positive impact of policy networks in policy-making (Smyrl 1995; Font 1996; Börzel 1997; cf. Risse-Kappen 1996).

# References

Anderson, Jeffrey. 1990. 'Sceptical Reflections on a Europe of the Regions: Britain, Germany, and the ERDF', *Journal of Public Policy* 10, 4: 417-447.

Atkinson, Michael and William D. Coleman. 1989. 'Strong States and Weak States: Sectoral Policy Networks in Advanced Capitalist Economies,' *British Journal of Political Science* 14, 1: 46-67.

Atkinson, Michael M. and William D. Coleman. 1992. 'Policy Networks, Policy Communities and the Problems of Governance,' *Governance* 5, 2: 154-180.

Benson, Kenneth J. 1982. 'A Framework for Policy Analysis,' in Rogers, D., D. Whitten, and Associates (eds.) 1982. *Interorganizational Co-ordination: Theory, Research and Implementation*, Ames, Iowa: Iowa State University Press: 137-176.

Benz, Arthur. 1992. 'Mehrebenen-Verflechtung: Verhandlungsprozesse in verbundenen Entscheidungsarenen,' in Benz, Arthur, Fritz W. Scharpf, and Reinhard Zintl (eds.) 1992. 147-197.

Benz, Arthur. 1995. 'Politiknetzwerke in der Horizontalen Politikverflechtung,' in Jansen, Dorothea and Klaus Schubert (eds.). 1995. *Netzwerke und Politikproduktion. Konzepte, Methoden, Perspektiven*, Marburg: Schüren: 185-204.

Benz, Arthur. 1995a. 'Regionalpolitik zwischen Netzwerkbildung und Institutionalisierung - Zur Funktionalität paradoxer Strukturen,' Antrittsvorlesung an der Universität Konstanz, 3 July 1995, manuscript.

Benz, Arthur, Lehmbruch, Gerhard, and Burkard Eberlein. 1995. 'Europäische Integration, Nationalstaaten, Regionen und neue Akteurskonstellationen,' Research Proposal, University of Constance.

Benz, Arthur, Fritz W. Scharpf, and Reinhard Zintl (eds.). 1992. *Horizontale Politikverflechtung. Zur Theorie von Verhandlungssystemen*. Frankfurt a.M./New York: Campus.

Börzel, Tanja A. forthcoming. 'Does the European Integration really Strengthen the State? The Case of the Federal Republic of Germany,' *Regional and Federal Studies* forthcoming.

Börzel, Tanja A. 1997. 'A Way out? Policy Networks as a Mode of Conflict-Management in the Implementation of European Environmental Policy,' paper presented at the ECPR Joint Sessions of Workshops in Bern, February 1997.

Bressand, Albert and Kalypso Nicolaidis. 1990. 'Regional integration in a network world economy,' in Wallace, William (ed.). 1990. *The Dynamics of European Integration*, London: Printer: 27-49.

Bressers, Hans, Laurence J. O'Toole Jr., and Jeremy Richardson (eds.). 1994. 'Networks for Water Policy: A Comparative Perspective,' *Environmental Politics*, Special Issue, 3, 4.

Bressers, Hans and Laurence J. O'Toole Jr. 1994. 'Networks and Water Policy: Conclusions and Implications for Research,' in Bressers, O'Toole, and Richardson (eds.). 1994. 197-217.

Burley, Anne-Marie and Walter Mattli. 1993. 'Europe before the Court: A Political Theory of Legal Integration,' *International Organization* 47, 1: 41-77.

Callon, Michel. 1986. 'The Sociology of an Actor-Network: The Case of Electric Vehicle,' in Callon, Michel, H. Law, and A. Rip (eds.). 1986. *Mapping the Dynamics of Science and Technology. Sociology of Science in the Real World*, Houndsmills: Macmillan: 19-34.

Christiansen, Thomas. 1994. 'European Integration between Political Science and International Relations Theory: The End of Sovereignty,' EUI Working Paper RSC No. 94/4, Florence: European University Institute.

Christiansen, Thomas and Knud Erik Jørgensen. 1995. 'Towards the 'Third Category' of Space: Conceptualizing the Changing Nature of Borders in Western Europe,' paper presented at the second Pan-European Conference on International Relations, Paris, 13-16 September 1995.

Dowding, Keith. 1994. 'Policy Networks: Don't Stretch a Good Idea Too Far,' in Dunleavy, Patrick and Jeffrey Stanyer (eds.). 1994. *Contemporary Political Studies*, Belfast: Political Science Association: 59-78.

Engel, Christian. 1993. Regionen in der EG - Rechtliche Vielfalt und integrationspolitische Rollensuche, Bonn: Europa Union.

Font Borrás, Nuria. 1996. 'La Europeización de la política ambiental en España. Un estudio de implementación de la directiva de evaluación de impacto ambiental,' Ph.D. thesis, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Departamento de Ciencia Política y Derecho Público, 21 July 1996.

Grande, Edgar. 1994. 'Vom Nationalstaat zur europäischen Politikverflechtung. Expansion und Transformation moderner Staatlichkeit - untersucht am Beispiel der Forschungs- und Technologiepolitik,' Habilitationsschrift zur Erlangung einer venie legendi in Politischer Wissenschaft und Verwaltungswissenschaft, Universität Konstanz, März 1994.

Haas, Peter M. 1992. 'Introduction: epistemic communities and international policy co-ordination,' *International Organisation* 46, 1: 1-35.

Hasenteufel, Patrick. 1995. 'Do policy networks matter? Lifting descriptif et analyse de l'État en interaction,' in Le Galès and Thatcher (eds.). 1995. 91-107.

Hanf, Kenneth, and Laurence J. O'Toole, Jr. 1992. 'Revisiting Old Friends: Networks, Implementation Structures and the Management of Inter-organisational Relations,' in Jordan and Schubert (eds.). 1992. 163-180.

Heclo, Hugh. 1978. 'Issue Networks and the Executive Establishment,' in King, Anthony (ed.). 1978. *The New American Political System*, Washington D.C.: American Enterprise Institute: 87-124.

Héritier, Adrienne (ed.). 1993. *Policy-Analyse. Kritik und Neuorientierung*, PVS Sonderheft 24, Opladen: Westdeutscher Verlag.

Héritier, Adrienne. 1996. 'Policy Making by Subterfuge: Interest Accomodation, Innovation and Substitute Democratic Legitimation in Europe - Perspectives from Distinctive Policy Areas,' paper presented at the Robert Schuman Cenrtre Conference 'Social Regulation Through European Committees: Empirical Research, Institutional Politics, Theoretical Concepts and Legal Developments,' European University Institute, 9 and 10 December.

Héritier, Adrienne, Christoph Knill, and Susanne Mingers. 1996. *Ringing the Changes in Europe: Regulatory Competition and the Redefining of the State: Britain, France, Germany*, Berlin, New York: de Gruyter.

Hix, Simon. 1994. 'The Study of the European Community: The Challenge to Comparative Politics,' *West European Politics*, 17, 1: 1-30.

Hooghe, Liesbeth. 1995. 'Subnational Mobilisation in the European Union,' EUI Working Paper, RSC No. 95/6, Florence: European University Institute.

Hooghe, Liesbeth and Michael Keating. 1994. 'The politics of European Union regional policy,' *Journal of European Public Policy* 1, 3: 53-78.

Jachtenfuchs, Markus. 1995. 'Theoretical Perspectives on European Governance,' *European Law Journal*, 1, 2: 115-133.

Jachtenfuchs, Markus and Beate Kohler-Koch. 1996. 'Einleitung: Regieren im dynamischen Mehrebenensystem,' in Jachtenfuchs and Kohler-Koch (eds.). 1996. *Europäische Integration*, Opladen: Leske + Budrich: 15-44.

Jeffery, Charlie. 1996. 'Regional Information Offices in Brussels and Multi-Level Governance in the EU: A UK-German Comparison,' paper presented at the ECPR Joint Sessions of Workshops in Oslo, 29 March - 3 April 1996.

Jordan, Grant. 1990. 'Sub-Government, Policy Communities and Networks. Refilling the Old Bottles?,' *Journal of Theoretical Politics* 2, 3: 319-338.

Jordan, Grant and Jeremy J. Richardson, 1983. 'Policy Communities: the British and European Style,' *Policy Studies Journal* 11: 603-615.

Jordan, Grant and Klaus Schubert. 1992. 'A Preliminary Ordering of Policy Network Labelling,' in Jordan and Schubert (eds.). 1992a. 7-28.

Jordan, Grant and Klaus Schubert (eds.). 1992a. 'Policy Networks,' *European Journal of Political Research*, Special Issue, 21, 1-2.

Josselin, Daphné. 1995. 'Économie politique internationale: de l'usage multiforme des réseaux de

politique publique,' in Le Galès and Thatcher (eds.). 1995. 193-210.

Jouve, Bernard. 1995. 'Réseaux et communautés de politique publique en action,' in Le Galès and Thatcher (eds.). 1995. 121-139.

Kassim, Hans. 1994. 'Policy Networks, Networks and European Union Policy-Making: A Sceptical View,' *West European Politics*, 17, 4: 15-27.

Katz, Michael L. and Carl Shapiro. 1985. 'Network Externalities, Competition, and Compatibility,' *American Economic Review* 75, 3: 424-440.

Katzenstein, Peter J. (ed.). 1978. *Between Power and Plenty. Foreign Economic Policies of Advanced Industrial States*, Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.

Keating, Michael. 1996. 'The Invention of Regions. Territorial Restructuring and Government in Western Europe,' paper presented at the ECPR Joint Sessions of Workshops in Oslo, March 29 - April 3 1996.

Keating, Michael and Liesbeth Hooghe. 1996. 'By-Passing the Nation State? Regions and the EU Policy Process,' in Richardson, Jeremy J. (ed.). 1996. *EU Power and Policy-Making*, London and New York: Routledge.

Kenis, Patrick and Volker Schneider. 1991. 'Policy Networks and Policy Analysis: Scrutinizing a New Analytical Toolbox,' in Marin and Mayntz (eds.). 1991a. 25-59.

Keohane, Robert O. and Joseph Nye Jr. (eds.). 1972. *Transnational Relations and World Politics*, Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

Keohane, Robert O. and Joseph Nye Jr. 1974. 'Transgovernmental Relations and International Organisations,' *World Politics* 27, 1: 39-62.

Keohane, Robert O. and Joseph Nye Jr. 1977. Power and Interdependence, Boston: Little, Brown.

Keohane, Robert O. and Stanley Hoffmann. 1991. 'Institutional Change in Europe in the 1980s,' in Keohane and Hoffmann (eds.). 1991. *The New European Community: Decisionmaking and Institutional Change*, Oxford and Boulder, CO: Westview Press: 1-39.

Knoke, David. 1990. *Political Networks. The Structural Perspective*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kohler-Koch, Beate. 1990. 'Interdependenz,' in Rittberger, Volker (ed.). 1990. 'Theorien der internationalen Beziehungen,' *Politische Vierteljahresschrift*, Sonderheft 21, Opladen: Westdeutscher Verlag: 110-129.

Kohler-Koch, Beate. 1992. 'Regionen als Handlungseinheiten in der europäischen Politik,' manuscript: Universität Mannheim.

Kohler-Koch, Beate. 1995. 'Regionen im Mehrebenensystem der EU,' in König, Thomas, Elmar Rieger, and Hermann Schmitt (eds.). 1995. *MZES-Jahrbuch 1995*, Mannheimer Zentrum für Sozialforschung, Frankfurt/Main: Campus.

Kohler-Koch, Beate. 1996. 'The Strength of Weakness. The Transformation of Governance in the EU,' in Gustavsson, Sverker and Leif Lewin (eds.). 1996. *The Future of the Nation State*, Stockholm:

Nerius & Santerus: 169-210.

Kohler-Koch, Beate. 1997. 'Interactive Governance: Regions in the Network of European Politics, paper presented at the ECSA Conference, Seattle, 28 May - 1 June 1997.

Kooiman, Jan. 1993. 'Social-Political Governance: Introduction,' in Kooiman, Jan (ed.). 1993. *Modern Governance. New Government - Society Interactions*, London: Sage: 1-6.

Krasner, Stephen D. 1983. 'Structural Causes and Regime Consequences: Regimes as Intervening Variables,' in Krasner, Stephen D. (ed.). 1983a. *International Regimes*, Ithaca NY: Cornell University Press: 1-21.

Krasner, Stephen. 1995. 'Compromising Westphalia,' mimeograph, Stanford University.

Kriesi, Hanspeter. 1994. Les démocraties occidentales. Una approche comparée, Paris: Economica.

Laumann, Edward O. and David Knoke. 1987. *The Organisational State. Social in National Policy Domains*, Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.

Laumann, Edward O. and Franz Urban Pappi. 1976. *Networks of Collective Action: A Perspective on Community Influence Systems*, New York: Academic Press.

Le Galès, Patrick. 1995. 'Introduction: Les réseaux d'action publique entre outil passe-partout et théorie de moyenne portée,' in Le Galès and Thatcher (eds.). 1995. 13-27.

Le Galès, Patrick and Marc Thatcher (eds.). 1995. *Les réseaux de politique publique. Débat autour des policy networks*, Paris: L'Harmattan.

Lehmbruch, Gerhard. 1979. 'Liberal Corporatism and Party Government,' in Schmitter and Lehmbruch (eds.). 1979. 147-184.

Lehmbruch, Gerhard. 1991. 'The Organisation of Society, Administrative Strategies, and Policy Networks,' in Czada, Roland M. and Adrienne Windhoff-Héritier (eds.). 1991. *Political ChoiceInstitutions, Rules and the Limits of Rationality*, Frankfurt aM: Campus: 25-59.

Majone, Giandomenico. 1993. 'Wann ist Policy-Deliberation wichtig?,' in Héritier (ed.). 1993. 97-115.

Marin, Bernd. 1990. 'Generalized Political Exchange. Preliminary Considerations,' in Marin, Bernd (ed.). 1990. *General Political Exchange. Antagonistic Cooperation and Integrated Policy Circuits*, Frankfurt aM: Campus.

Marin, Bernd and Renate Mayntz. 1991. 'Introduction: Studying Policy Networks,' in Marin/Mayntz (eds.). 1991a. 11-23.

Marin, Bernd and Renate Mayntz (eds.). 1991a. *Policy Network: Empirical Evidence and Theoretical Considerations*, Frankfurt aM: Campus Verlag.

Marks, Gary. 1992. 'Structural Policy in the European Community,' in Sbragia, Alberta (ed.). 1992a. 191-224.

Marks, Gary. 1993. 'Structural Policy and Multilevel Governance in the European Community,' in Cafruny, Alan and Glenda Rosenthal (eds.). *The State of the European Community II: The* 

Maastricht Debates and Beyond, Boulder: Lynne Rienner: 391-410.

Marks, Gary, Liesbeth Hooghe, and Kermit Blank. 1995. 'European Integration and the State,' EUI Working Paper RSC No. 95/7, Florence: European University Institute.

Marks, Gary, François Nielson, Leonard Ray, and Jane Salk. 1995. 'Competencies, Cracks, and Conflicts: Regional Mobilization in the European Union,' unpublished paper.

Marsh, David and R.A.W. Rhodes. 1992. 'Policy Communities and Issue Networks. Beyond Typology,' in Marsh, David and R.A.W. Rhodes (eds.). 1992a. 249-268.

Marsh, David and R.A.W. Rhodes (eds.). 1992a. *Policy Networks in British Government*, Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Mayntz, Renate (ed.). 1983. *Implementation politischer Programme II. Ansätze zur Theoriebildung*, Königstein Ts: Verlagsgruppe Athenäum.

Mayntz, Renate. 1993. 'Policy-Netzwerke und die Logik von Verhandlungssystemen,' in Héritier (ed.). 1993. 39-56.

Mayntz, Renate. 1994. 'Modernization and the Logic of Interorganizational Networks,' MIPGF Working Paper No. 4, Köln: Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung.

Mayntz, Renate and Fritz W. Scharpf. 1995. 'Der Ansatz des akteurszentrierten Institutionalismus,' in Mayntz and Scharpf (eds.). 1995. *Gesellschaftliche Selbstregulierung und politische Steuerung*, Frankfurt/New York: Campus: 39-72.

Mazey, Sonia and Jeremy J. Richardson, (eds.). 1993. *Lobbying in the European Union*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

McAleavey, Paul. 1993. 'The Politics of European Regional Development Policy: Additionality in the Scottish Coalfields,' *Regional Politics and Policy* 3, 2: 88-107.

Metcalfe, Les. 1992. 'Après 1992: la Commission pourra-t-elle gérer l'Europe?,' *Revue Française d'Administration Publicque* 63: 401-412

Mills, Mike and Michael Saward. 1994. 'All Very Well in Practice, But What About the Theory? A Critique of the British Idea of Policy Networks,' *Contemporary Political Studies*, Vol. 1, Belfast: Political Science Association: 79-92.

Milward, Alan S. 1992. *The European Rescue of the Nation-State*, Berkeley CA: University of California Press.

Moravcsik, Andrew. 1991. 'Negotiating the Single European Act: National Interests and Conventional Statecraft in the European Community,' *International Organisation* 45, 1: 41-84.

Moravcsik, Andrew. 1993. 'Introduction: Integrating International and Domestic Politics: A Theoretical Introduction,' Evans, Peter, Harold Jacobson, and Robert Putnam (eds.). 1993. *Double-Edged Diplomacy*, Berkeley: University of California Press: 3-42.

Moravcsik, Andrew. 1994. 'Why the European Community Strengthens the State: Domestic Politics and International Cooperation,' paper presented at the Conference of Europeanists, Chicago, Il. April 1994).

Moravcsik, Andrew. 1995. 'Liberal Intergovernmentalism and Integration: A Rejoinder,' *Journal of Common Market Studies* 33, 4: 611-628.

Müller, Harald. 1994. 'Internationale Beziehungen als kommunikatives Handeln. Zur Kritik der utilitaristischen Handlungstheorien,' *Zeitschrift für internationale Beziehungen* 1, 1: 15-44.

Olsen, Johan P. 1995. 'European Challenges to the Nation State,' Working paper ARENA No. 14.

Pappi, Franz Urban. 1993. 'Policy-Netzwerke: Erscheinungsform moderner Politiksteuerung oder methodischer Ansatz?,' in Héritier (ed.). 1993. 84-94.

Pappi, Franz Urban and David Knoke. 1991. 'Political Exchange in the German and American Labor Policy Domain,' in Marin and Mayntz (eds.). 1991a. 179-208.

Parri, Leonardo. 1989. 'Territorial Political Exchange in Federal and Unitary Countries,' *West European Politics* 12, 3: 197-219.

Peters, Guy. 1992. 'Bureaucratic Politics and the Institutions of the European Community,' in Sbragia (ed.). 1992a. 75-122.

Peterson, John. 1992. 'The European Technology Community. Policy Networks in a Supranational Setting,' in Marsh and Rhodes (eds.). 1992a. 226-248.

Powell, Walter W. 1990. 'Neither Market nor Hierarchy: Network Forms of Organisation,' *Research in Organisational Behaviour* 12: 295-336.

Putnam, Robert. 1988. 'Diplomacy and Domestic Politics: The Logic of Two-Level-Games,' *International Organisation* 42, 3: 427-460.

Rhodes, R.A.W. 1986. *European Policy-Making, Implementation and Sub-central Governments*, Maastricht: European Institute of Public Administration.

Rhodes, R.A.W. 1986a. The National World of Local Government, London: Allen & Unwin.

Rhodes, R.A.W. 1986b. 'Power Dependence Theories of Central-Local Relations: A Critical Reassessment,' in Goldsmith, Michael J. (ed.). 1986. *New Research in Central-Local Relations*, Aldershot: Gower: 1-33.

Rhodes, R.A.W. 1988. Beyond Westminster and Whitehall, London: Unwin Hyman.

Rhodes, R.A.W. 1990. 'Policy Networks. A British Perspective,' *Journal of Theoretical Politics* 2, 3: 293-317.

Rhodes, R.A.W. 1995. 'The European Union, Cohesion Policy and Sub-National Authorities in the United Kingdom,' paper prepared for the Robert Schuman Centre, Florence: European University Institute.

Rhodes, R.A.W. 1996. 'Governing without Governance: Order and Change in British Politics,' inaugural lecture, University of Newcastle upon Tyne, 18 April 1996.

Rhodes, R.A.W., Ian Bache, and Stephen George. 1996. 'Policy Networks and Policy Making in the European Union: A Critical Appraisal,'in Hooghe, Liesbet (ed.). 1996. *Cohesion Policy and* 

European Integration: Building Multi-Level Governance, Oxford: Oxford University Press: 367-387.

Rhodes, R.A.W. and David Marsh. 1992. 'Policy Network in British Politics,' in Marsh and Rhodes (eds.). 1992a. 1-26.

Risse-Kappen, Thomas (ed.). 1995. *Bringing Transitional Relations Back In: Non-State Actors, Domestic Structures, and International Institutions*, Cambridge MA: Cambridge University Press.

Risse-Kappen, Thomas. 1996. 'Exploring the Nature of the Beast: International Relations Theory and Comparative Policy Analysis Meet the European Union,' *Journal of Common Market Studies* 34, 1: 53-80.

Rittberger, Volker (ed.). 1993. Regime Theory and International Relations, Oxford: Clarendon.

Rosenau, James. 1992. 'Governance, Order, and Change in World Politics,' in Rosenau, James N. and Ernst-Otto Czempiel (eds.). 1992. *Governance Without Government: Order and Change in World Politics*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press: 1-29.

Ruggie, John Gerald. 1993. 'Territoriality and Beyond: Problematizing Modernity in International Relations,' *International Organisation* 47, 1: 139-174.

Sabatier, Paul A. 1993. 'Advocacy-Koalitionen, Policy-Wandel and Policy-Lernen: Eine Alternative zur Phasenheuristik,' in Héritier (ed.). 1993. 116-148.

Sandholtz, Wayne. 1992. *High-tech Europe. The Politics of International Cooperation*, Berkeley CA: University of California Press.

Sandholtz, Wayne. 1996. 'Membership Matters: Limits of the Functional Approach to European Institutions,' *Journal of Common Market Studies* September.

Sandholtz, Wayne and Alec Stone, 1994. 'European Integration and Domestic Politics. A Framework,' unpublished paper.

Sbragia, Alberta M. (ed.). 1992. Europolitics: Institutions and Policymaking in the New European Community, Washington: Brookings Institution.

Scharpf, Fritz W. 1991. 'Political Institutions, Decision Styles, and Policy Choices,' in Czada, Roland M. and Adrienne Windhoff-Héritier (eds.). 1991. *Political Choice. Institutions, Rules and the Limits of Rationality*, Frankfurt aM: Campus: 60-96

Scharpf, Fritz W. 1992. 'Koordination durch Verhandlungssysteme: Analytische Konzepte und institutionelle Lösungen,' in Benz, Scharpf, and Zintl (eds.). 1992. 51-96.

Scharpf, Fritz W. 1992a. 'Einführung. Zur Theorie von Verhandlungssystemen,' in Benz, Scharpf, and Zintl (eds.). 1992. 11-28.

Scharpf, Fritz W. 1993. 'Positive und negative Koordination in Verhandlungssystemen,' in Héritier (ed.). 1993. 57-83.

Scharpf, Fritz W. 1993a. 'Versuch über die Demokratie im verhandelnden Staat,' in Czada, Roland and Manfred G. Schmidt (eds.). 1993. *Verhandlungsdemokratie, Interessenvermittlung, Regierbarkeit. Festschrift für Gerhard Lehmbruch*, Opladen: Westdeutscher Verlag: 25-50.

Schmitter, Philippe C. 1974. 'Still the Century of Corporatism?,' *Review of Politics* 36: 85-131.

Schmitter, Philippe C. 1991. 'The European Community as an Emergent and Novel Form of Political Domination,' Working paper No. 26, Madrid: Juan March Institute.

Schmitter, Philippe C. 1992. 'Representation and the Future Euro-Polity,' *Staatswissenschaften und Staatspraxis* 3, 3: 379-405.

Schmitter, Philippe C. and Gerhard Lehmbruch (eds.). 1979. *Trends Towards Corporatist Intermediation*, Beverly Hills/London: Sage.

Schneider, Volker. 1988. Politiknetzwerke der Chemikalienkontrolle. Eine Analyse einer transnationalen Politikentwicklung, Berlin: de Gruyter.

Schneider, Volker, Godefroy Dang-Nguyen, and Raymund Werle. 1994. 'Corporate Actor Network in European Policy-Making: Harmonizing Telecommunications Policy,' *Journal of Common Market Studies* 32. 4: 473-498

Schubert, Klaus and Grant Jordan. 1992. 'Introduction,' in Jordan and Schubert (eds.). 1992a. 1-5.

Schumann, Wolfgang. 1991. 'EG-Forschung und Policy Analyse. Zur Notwendigkeit, den ganzen Elefanten zu erfassen,' *Politische Vierteljahresschrift* 32, 2: 232-257.

Schumann, Wolfgang. 1993. 'Die EG als neuer Anwendungsbereich für die Policy Analyse: Möglichkeiten und Perspektiven der konzeptionellen Weiterentwicklung,' in Héritier (ed.). 1993. 394-431.

Sciarini, Pascal. 1996. 'Elaboration of the Swiss Agricultural Policy for the GATT Negotiations: A Network Analysis,' *Schweizer Zeitschrift für Soziologie* 22, 1: 85-115.

Sikkink, Kathryn. 1993. 'Human Rights, Principle Issue-Networks, and Sovereignty in Latin America,' *International Organisation* 47, 3: 411-441.

Singer, Otto. 1993. 'Policy Communities und Diskurs-Koalitionen: Experten und Expertise in der Wirtschaftspolitik,' in Héritier (ed.). 1993. 149-174.

Smith, Andy. 1996. 'Putting the Governance Back Into Multi-Level Governance. Examples from French Translations of the Structural Funds,' paper presented at the ECPR Joint Sessions of Workshops in Oslo, March 29 till April 3 1996.

Smith, Martin J. 1993. *Pressure Power & Policy. State Autonomy and Policy Networks in Britain and the United States*, Hempel Hempstead: Harvest Wheatsheaf.

Smyrl, Marc E. 1995. 'From Regional Policy Communities to European Networks. Inter-regional Divergence in the Implementation of EC Regional Policy in France,' EUI Working Paper RSC No. 95/20, Florence: European University Institute.

Thatcher, Marc. 1995. 'Les réseaux de politique publique: Bilan d'un sceptique,' in Le Galès and Thatcher (eds.). 1995. 230-248.

Thorelli, H.B. 1986. 'Networks: Between Markets and Hierarchies,' *Strategic Management Journal* 7, 37-51.

Waarden, Frans van. 1992. 'Dimensions and types of policy networks,' in Jordan and Schubert (eds.). 1992a. 29-52.

Wallace, William. 1983. 'Less than a Federation, More than a Regime: The Community as a Political System,' in Wallace, Helen, William Wallace, and Carol Webb (eds.). 1983. *Policy Making in the European Community*, 2nd ed., London: John Wiley & Sons: 403-436.

Wallace, William. 1990. 'Introduction: The Dynamics of European Integration,' in Wallace, William (ed.). 1990. *The Dynamics of European Integration*, London: Printer: 1-24.

Wellmann, Barry. 1988. 'Structural Analysis: From Method and Metaphor to Theory and Substance,' in Wellmann, Barry and S.D. Berkowitz (eds.). 1988. *Social Structure: A Network Approach*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Wilks, Stephen and Maurice Wright. (eds.). 1987. *Comparative Government-Industry Relations: Western Europe, the United States and Japan*, Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Williamson, Oliver E. 1985. The Economic Institutions of Capitalism, New York: Free Press.

Wincott, Daniel. 1995. 'Institutional Interaction and European Integration: Towards an Everyday Critique of Liberal Intergovernmentalism,' *Journal of Common Market Studies* 33, 4: 597-609.

Windhoff-Héritier, Adrienne. 1993. 'Policy Network Analysis: A Tool for Comparative Political Research,' in Keman, Hans (ed.). 1993. *Comparative Politics*, Amsterdam: VU University Press: 143-160.

Windhoff-Héritier, Adrienne. 1994. 'Die Veränderung von Staatsaufgaben aus politikwissenschaftlich-institutioneller Sicht,' in Grimm, Dieter (ed.). 1994. *Staatsaufgaben*, Baden-Baden: Nomos: 75-91.

Young, Oran. 1989. 'The Politics of International Regimes Formation: Managing Natural Resources and the Environment,' *International Organization* 43: 349-375.

Zintl, Reinhard. 1992. 'Kooperation und Aufteilung des Kooperationsgewinns bei horizontaler Politikverflechtung,' in Benz, Scharpf, and Zintl (eds.). 1992. 97-146.

Zürn, Michael. 1995. 'Über den Staat und die Demokratie in der Europäischen Union,' *Politische Vierteljahresschrift* 31, 1: 27-55.

## **Endnotes**

- (\*) For coments on earlier versions of this paper, I am grateful to James Caporaso, Thomas Christiansen, Thomas Diez, Adrienne Héritier, Peter Katzenstein, Patrick Le Galès, Yves Mény, R.A.W. Rhodes, Thomas Risse-Kappen, Wayne Sandholtz, Pascal Sciarini, and Cornelia Ulbert. A previous version was published as a Working Paper of the Robert Schuman Centre (EUI), <u>RSC No. 97/19</u> under the title of "Policy Networks. A New Paradigm for European Governance".
- (1) It would go far beyond the scope of this paper to give a comprehensive overview of the emergence of the policy network concept in the literature. For the American literature see Jordan 1990; for the British literature see Rhodes and Marsh 1992, pp.8-18; for the French literature see Le Galès 1995, Jouve 1995; and for the German literature see Héritier,ed.,1993. For an overview of the

policy network concept in the different scientific disciplines see Rhodes 1990.

- (2) For an excellent example of a quantitative network analysis see Sciarini 1996; cf. Laumann and Pappi 1976; Laumann and Knoke 1987; Pappi and Knoke 1991).
- (3) For an attempt to bring together the two concepts in a *policy-area network approach* see Pappi 1993, pp.90-93.
- (4) Some authors, however, use networks only to denote a specific type of public-private linkages rather than as an overarching term for state/interest relations. Heclo, for instance, presents his 'issue network' as an alternative to the concept of 'iron triangle', which was used as a model for state-industry relations in the US in the 1950s and 1960s (Heclo 1978).
- (5) The term 'alternative' may be a little bit misleading here. Policy networks are understood as an umbrella concept which integrates the different forms of pluralism and corporatism as specific versions of networks. Some authors therefore question the added value of policy networks in analysing different forms of interest intermediation (Hasenteufel 1995). Yet, the governance school conceives networks in fact as an alternative form of state-society relations different from pluralism and corporatism. Others assume that policy networks have been developed above all as an alternative to structural approaches such as neo-marxism (Le Galès 1995, p.17).
- (6) For policy networks as a better way of understanding the 'configurative aspects of interest intermediation' see also Lehmbruch 1991.
- (7) The original 'Rhodes model' included only one dimension: the degree of integration (Rhodes 1986). The other two were introduced after Rhodes had acknowledged that he had conflated two dimensions in his model: the degree of integration and the dominance of a particular group (Rhodes and Marsh 1992, p.21).
- (8) For the application and evaluation of the Rhodes model in empirical case studies in a range of policy sectors (beyond intergovernmental relations) see Marsh and Rhodes, eds., 1992a.
- (9) The emphasis on interpersonal linkages is shared by the French literature on policy networks (Jouve 1995).
- (10) I am grateful to Adrienne Héritier for pointing out to me the importance of the distinction between heterogeneous and homogeneous policy networks. She also suggested a possibility for conceptually linking the two different types of networks by arguing that homogeneous policy networks might serve as an important resource for actors involved in a heterogeneous network.
- (11) Many authors point out that one of the major advantages of a meso-level policy networks typology towards state-society relations over traditional, macro-level typologies such as strong vs. weak states is that the policy networks typology can account for sectoral variations within the states (Wilks and Wright 1987; Lehmbruch 1991; Peterson 1992; Mazey and Richardson, eds., 1993).
- (12) It should be clear by now that this branch of the governance school has strong affiliations with the interest intermediation school. They share a common research agenda addressing questions such as how and why networks change, what the relative importance of interpersonal and interorganizational relationships is, how networks affect policy outcomes, and which interests dominate in a policy network. And the scholars of both sides agree that the policy network concept itself is not able to provide complete answers to these questions.
- '[T]he concept of 'policy networks' is a meso-level one which helps to classify the patterns of relationships between interest groups and governments. But it must be used in conjunction with one

- of the several theories of the state in order to provide a full explanation of the policy process and its outcomes' (Marsh and Rhodes 1992, p.268; cf. Kenis and Schneider 1991; Windhoff-Héritier 1994).
- (13) For a more detailed description of these features of modern societies see Kenis and Schneider 1991, pp.34-36.
- (14) While some authors include all kinds of actors corporate and individual in their definition of policy networks (Windhoff-Héritier 1994), others conceive policy networks as purely *interorganizational* relations excluding personal relationships (Marin 1990; Mayntz 1993; 1994; Pappi 1993; Rhodes 1986; 1995).
- (15) Most of the authors assume implicitly or explicitly that policy networks consist of private and public actors. Only a few apply the concept of policy networks (also) to the study of relations between exclusively public actors (Rhodes 1986, 1986a, 1986b; Peters 1992).
- (16) Most of the scholars are or were related to the *Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung* (MPIGF) located in Cologne, Germany.
- (17) There is no consensus in the literature whether policy networks constitute an inherently new form of governance. Some authors argue that networks are a hybrid form located somewhere in the middle of a continuum that has market and hierarchy as the two opposing extremes (e.g. Williamson 1985; Kenis and Schneider 1991). This holds true if the underlying analytical dimension is the degree of coupling. Markets are characterized by the absence of structural coupling between the elements, hierarchies by tight coupling, and networks, by definition loosely coupled, lie inbetween. Others, however, see policy networks as a qualitatively distinct type of social structure which is characterised by the combination of elements belonging to the two other two basic forms of governance: the existence of a plurality of autonomous agents, typical for markets, and the ability to pursue chosen goals through coordinated action, typical for hierarchies (Mayntz 1994, p.11; cf. Marin 1990, pp.19-20, 56-58; Powell 1990). A third view emphasizes the character of policy networks as a supplement of hierarchy rather than a substitute for hierarchy (and market) (Benz 1995; Marin 1990).
- (18) Benz identifies different types of conflicts which are caused by a multi-level decision-making structure, such as the problem of decisions at one level provoking conflicts on another level or 'objective' (common) problems often getting a subjective interest dimension due to institutional self-interests or the style of decision-making and conflict settlement within an organization (cf. Benz 1992, pp.159-165).
- (19) For a discussion of the general differences between bargaining and problem-solving see Scharpf 1992 and Zintl 1992.
- (20) For networks as a chance to legitimise a political system see Jachtenfuchs and Kohler-Koch 1996a, p.39.
- (21) According to Benz, this dilemma or 'paradox of interorganizational structures' cannot be finally overcome. Networks and institutions form a dynamic structural context in which politics has to operate in a flexible way. Actors can cope best with this situation if they act 'paradoxically', i.e. act 'as if what is achieved was not intended' (Benz 1995, p.204).
- (22) For an attempt to formulate a sophisticated theoretical approach to explain the emergence of policy networks as a form of modern governance under conditions of complexity, dynamics, and diversity see Kooiman 1993.
- (23) Sabatier, however, points out at that policy learning is more likely to occur as a consequence of

external shock rather than due to processes of communicative action (Sabatier 1993, pp.122-126).

- (24) For the general problem of rational choice approaches to account for processes of communicative action in formal and informal institutions see Müller 1994.
- (25) European Governance is hereby defined as the patterns that emerge from the policy-making (governing) activities of political, administrative and social actors in the European Union.
- (26) See e.g. Putnam 1988; Moravcsik 1991; 1993; 1994.
- (27) What is often overlooked, however, is that the network model has much in common with IR literature on transnational and transgovernmental relations and interdependence (Keohane and Nye,eds.,1972; Keohane and Nye 1974; Keohane and Nye 1977; Kohler-Koch 1990; Josselin 1995; Risse-Kappen,ed.,1995), epistemic communities (Haas 1992; Richardson 1995) and principled issue-networks (Sikkink 1993), international regimes (Krasner 1983; Young 1989 Rittberger 1993) as well as with multi-level governance approaches in EI literature (Marks 1993; Marks, Hooghe and Blank 1995).
- (28) For a noteworthy exception see the works of Héritier (Héritier, Mingers, Knill and Becka 1994; Héritier 1996).
- (29) The distinction between European governance as dependent and independent variable is important, especially with regard to the discussion about the 'transformation of the state'. Whereas some authors refer by this term to transformations *within* the member states caused by European governance (Héritier, Mingers, Knill and Becka 1994; Kohler-Koch 1996), others point at the emergence of a system of European governance which is no longer based on the principles of territoriality and state sovereignty (Schmitter 1991; 1992; Ruggie 1993; Christiansen 1994; Christiansen/Jørgensen 1995; Jachtenfuchs 1995).
- (30) Héritier, Mingers, Knill and Becka (1994) point out, however, that one of the major characteristics of European policy networks dealing with regulative policies is the frequent inclusion of intergovernmental actors.
- (31) Moravcsik does not use a policy network approach to test his strengthening-the-state hypothesis. However, his major argument is based on the assumption that European integration leads to a redistribution of resources among domestic actors in the member states in favour of the national executive (Moravcsik 1994).
- (32) Stephen Krasner, however, argues in a recent paper that state sovereignty has always been a myth. The Westphalian model of the state, based on autonomy (exclusion of external authority) and territoriality (congruence of boundaries and authority structures) has been frequently compromised and contested, de facto and in theory, throughout its history (Krasner 1995). The problem with many works on the erosion of the concept of state (sovereignty) is that it is often assumed that this process has already taken place and led to new modes of governance beyond the state. Thus, these works are often more concerned with finding ways to legitimise these new forms of governance rather than with looking for empirical evidence of their emergence (see e.g. Jachtenfuchs 1995).
- (33) 'Prozeß der Entgrenzung von Handlungsspielräumen und der Neuformulierung und Umdeutung von Handlungsprinzipien' (Kohler-Koch 1995, p.9).
- (34) Important research on the impact of European governance on the domestic structures of the member states which does not fit, however, in the scheme presented here is done by Arthur Benz and a research team at the University of Constance who look at how institutional changes in the EU

affect the relationship between domestic institutions and informal networks both involving actors at the regional/local, national and European level (Benz 1995a; Benz, Lehmbruch and Eberlein 1995).

- (35) This claim is not equivalent with a the hypothesis put forward by supranationalist/transnationalist writers that European integration increasingly weakens the state. Neither shares it the pluralist concept of the state as an arena for the competition of societal interests. Moreover, it is argued that the state is no longer in the position to hierarchically formulate and impose policies upon society. State actors have become more and more dependent on the resources of other actors. This does not automatically imply, however, that state actors are not able any more to pursue their own interests and do not have to play a significant role in public policy-making. Rather, the role of the state has changed from an authoritative allocator into an actor (a set of actors), who still disposes of considerable resources, being able to bring together the actors relevant for policy-making.
- (36) This does not imply that European governance is exclusively based on non-hierarchical bargainging in multilevel policy networks. Hierarchical co-ordination and deregulation still play a prominent role in both national and European policy-making. Rather, it is argued that policy networks are becoming an increasingly important feature of European governance due to their potential to increase efficiency and legitimacy of public policy-making.
- (37) As briefly mentioned above, rationalist institutionalist approaches suffer from serious ontological problems in explaining the underlying logic of social interaction within policy networks, which is essentially based on communication and mutual trust. Whereas rational choicers still have to come to terms with these ontological contradictions in their theoretical arguments about networks, the recent debate about communicative action and institutions in the field of International Relations provide some very fruitful points of reference for tackling the role of policy networks as arenas for non-strategic action to overcome problems of collective action (see e.g. the sophisticated debate between rational institutionalists and constructivists in several issues of the German IR journal 'Zeitschrift für internationale Beziehungen', esp. Vol. 1-4 (1994/1995)).

©1997 by Börzel arranged by MN, 19.8.1997

# Figure 1

# The evolution of policy networks as a new form of governance\*

	increasing		market deregulation/privatisation ==> failure
complexity dynamics ==> diversity	resource interdependence between public and private actors in public policy-making	inefficiency of hierarchical ==> co-ordination	horizontal co-ordination ==> governance through policy networks

<sup>\*</sup> For an overview over the concept of interdependence in International Relations theory see Keohane and Nye 1977; Kohler-Koch 1990.

# Figure 2

# Concepts of policy networks

Quant	titative network concept	Qualitative network concept
	Interest Intermediation School	Governance School
policy networks as analytical tool	policy networks as a typology of state/society relations	policy networks as a model to analyse non-hierarchical forms of interactions between public and private actors in policy-making
policy networks as theoretical approach	structure of policy networks as a determinant of policy process and policy outcome	policy networks as specific form of governance

# Figure 3

The application of policy networks to the study of European governance

	Policy networks as analytical tool	Policy networks as theoretical approach
European governance as dependent variabl (bottom-up perspective)	forms of interest intermedia-tion/policy outcomes/ policy change/processes/structures of European policy-making> intergovernmental vs. supranational/transnational policy-making	EU as a system of governance without government> policy networks as a mode of European governance; EU as a new form of modern statehood vs. EU as a system of governance beyond the state
European governance as independent variable (top-down perspective)	impact of European policy-making on the domestic structures of the member states> strengthening vs. weakening of the state	impact of European integration on the domestic structures of the member states> transformation of the state from actor into arena

©1997 by Börzel arranged by MN, 19.8.1997